
 
 

MOUNTAIN HOME CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA (v.3) 

THURSDAY, JUNE 6th, 2024 @ 5 P.M. 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS OF THE MUNICIPAL BUILDING 

720 HICKORY STREET, MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 

 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Prayer 

Roll call  

Minutes from the May 16TH Council meeting 

Committee reports  

Bank reconciliations 

Agenda additions 

Announcements   

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

CREATE LINE ITEM 101-5101-72741 The Alliance AND FUND IT WITH $30,000 FROM LINE 

ITEM 101-5101-79000 Projected Carryover, presented by Alma Clark 

 

APPROVAL OF COMPLETED 2023 WATER/SEWER AUDIT, presented by Alma Clark 

 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE WILLINGNESS OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, 

ARKANSAS, TO UTILIZE FEDERAL-AID RECREATIONAL TRAILS PROGRAM FUNDS, 

presented by Daniel Baxley 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND DELETING SECTION 7.16.01 FROM THE MOUNTAIN HOME 

CITY CODE; AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY THERETO, presented by Scott Liles and 

Eddie Griffin 

 

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION REGARDING GOOD SAMARITAN 1978 INDUSTRIAL 

REVENUE BONDS, presented by Hillrey Adams and Roger Morgan  

 

DISCUSSION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON REAL ESTATE PROPERTY RECENTLY DONATED 

TO THE CITY, presented by Hillrey Adams and Roger Morgan 

 

COMMENTS 



 
 

 

ADJOURN 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Scott Liles, City Clerk 



 

 

MINUTES 
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING – Thursday, May 16th, 2024 

 
1. The Mountain Home City Council met in regular session on May 16, 2024, in the Council 

Chambers of the Municipal Building. Mayor Hillrey Adams called the meeting to order at 
5 p.m. 

 
2. CITY OFFICIALS IN ATTENDANCE Mayor Hillrey Adams, City Clerk Scott Liles, City Attorney 

Roger Morgan, Planning Director Arnold Knox, Police Chief Eddie Griffin, Fire Chief Kris 
Quick and Parks Director Daniel Baxley. 

 
3. MEDIA IN ATTENDANCE Caroline Spears of the Baxter Bulletin and Chris Fulton of the 

Mountain Home Observer. The meeting was also streamed on Facebook by XL-7 TV. 
 

4. ROLL CALL Following the Pledge of Allegiance and an invocation, the following Council 
members were present for the roll call: Bob Van Haaren, Susan Stockton, Jennifer Baker, 
Wayne Almond, Paige Evans, Carry Manuel, Jim Bodenhamer and Nick Reed.  

 
5. APPROVAL OF THE MAY 2ND MINUTES Council member Jennifer Baker made a motion to 

approve the minutes from the Council’s May 2nd meeting. The motion was seconded by 
Council member Susan Stockton. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – Bob Van Haaren, 
Susan Stockton, Jennifer Baker, Wayne Almond, Paige Evans and Jim Bodenhamer; 
Abstain – Carry Manuel and Nick Reed. The motion carried, and the May 2nd minutes were 
adopted. 

 
6. NEW BUSINESS 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 296, AS AMENDED, WITH REFERENCE TO 
ZONING WITHIN THE CITY LIMITS OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS, 
RELATIVE TO CHANGING AN AREA ZONED AS RESIDENTIAL R-2 TO RESIDENTIAL R-4 If 
approved, this Ordinance would rezone property located between Coley Drive and 
Arkansas Avenue from Residential R-2 to Residential R-4. The property in question is 
owned by Winters LLC and will be developed into 20-plus single-family homes. Homes will 
be either 1,900 square feet or 1,550 square feet in space. Each unit will be all brick and 
will have an oversized garage. City attorney Roger Morgan placed the proposed 
Ordinance on its first reading in its entirety. 
 
SECOND READING After the item’s first reading, Council member Bob Van Haaren made 
a motion to suspend the rules and place the item on its second reading by title only. That 
motion was seconded by Council member Jennifer Baker. The vote was recorded as 
follows: Yes – All present. The motion carried and the proposed Ordinance was read a 
second time. 
 



 

 

THIRD READING Following the second reading, Council member Bob Van Haaren made a 
motion to suspend the rules and place the item on its third reading by title only, and drew 
a second from Council member Jennifer Baker. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – 
All present. The motion carried and the proposed Ordinance was read a third time. 
 
ADOPTION Following the item’s third reading, Council member Bob Van Haaren made a 
motion to adopt the proposed Ordinance and was seconded by Council member Jennifer 
Baker. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – All present. The Ordinance was declared 
adopted and numbered Ordinance No. 2024-6. 
 
EMERGENCY CLAUSE Following the adoption of Ordinance No. 2024-6, Council member 
Jennifer Baker made a motion to attach the City’s Emergency Clause to the item so that 
it immediately went into effect. That motion was seconded by Council member Bob Van 
Haaren. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – All present.  The motion carried and the 
Emergency Clause was adopted for Ordinance No. 2024-6. 

 
AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE FINAL PLAT AND DEDICATIONS FOR GLENBRIAR 
COMMONS PHASE 2B AND IMPROVEMENTS THEREWITH, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES If 
approved, this Ordinance would accept the final plat and public dedications for Phase 2B 
of the Glenbriar Commons subdivision. Phase 2B includes nine units in the development 
and would add two new city streets – Michigan Avenue and Ontario Court. City attorney 
Roger Morgan placed the proposed Ordinance on its first reading in its entirety. 

 
SECOND READING After the item’s first reading, Council member Jennifer Baker made a 
motion to suspend the rules and place the item on its second reading by title only. That 
motion was seconded by Council member Paige Evans. The vote was recorded as follows: 
Yes – All present. The motion carried and the proposed Ordinance was read a second time. 

 
THIRD READING Following the second reading, Council member Jennifer Baker made a 
motion to suspend the rules and place the item on its third reading by title only and drew 
a second from Council member Wayne Almond. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – 
All present. The motion carried and the proposed Ordinance was read a third time. 
 
ADOPTION Following the item’s third reading, Council member Jennifer Baker made a 
motion to adopt the proposed Ordinance and was seconded by Council member Carry 
Manuel. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – All present. The Ordinance was declared 
adopted and numbered Ordinance No. 2024-7. 
 
EMERGENCY CLAUSE Following the adoption of Ordinance No. 2024-7, Council member 
Jennifer Baker made a motion to attach the City’s Emergency Clause to the item so that 
it immediately went into effect. That motion was seconded by Council member Bob Van 
Haaren. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – All present.  The motion carried and the 
Emergency Clause was adopted for Ordinance No. 2024-7. 

 



 

 

A RESOLUTION DESIGNATING THE MAYOR AS THE CITY’S REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF MAKING APPOINTMENT TO THE BAXTER COUNTY EQUALIZATION BOARD 
PURSUANT TO ARKANSAS STATUTE ANNOTATED 84-701, ET.SEQ.; RATIFYING AND 
APPROVING ACTION TAKEN PURSUANT TO CALL; AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES If 
approved, this Resolution would re-appoint Randy Warlow to the Baxter County Board of 
Equalization to represent the Baxter County mayors. Warlow is a long-serving member of 
the Equalization Board, and this appointment would grant him another three-year term. 
Council member Jennifer Baker made a motion to adopt the proposed Resolution and was 
seconded by Council member Wayne Almond. The vote was recorded as follows: Yes – All 
present. The Resolution was declared adopted and numbered Resolution No. 2024-15. 
 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME TO ENTER INTO AN 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT If approved, this Resolution would authorize the 
City to enter into a contract with the North Central Arkansas Chamber Foundation (dba 
the North Central Arkansas Economic Alliance) for economic development. The Alliance 
is a 501c3 foundation whose leadership board contains representatives from area 
businesses, the hospitals, Arkansas State University-Mountain Home and other 
community leaders. 
 Mayor Hillrey Adams told the audience that in February the Council had adopted 
a Resolution declaring economic development a professional service (Resolution No) and-
6), and had since then published a Request for Qualifications seeking assistance with 
economic development. The City received two responses – the North Central Arkansas 
Economic Alliance and a private business out of Kansas – and after a panel interviewed 
both entities it was recommended the City enter into a contract with the Alliance for 
economic development services. 

Terms of the contract would be for one year (backdated to Jan. 1, 2024) and cost 
the City $40,000. However, Mayor Hillrey Adams said that since it was already May, the 
contract’s price tag would instead be a prorated $30,000. City Attorney Roger Morgan 
asked Alliance representatives in the audience if they understood and agreed upon the 
prorated amount and did not receive any dissent. Mayor Adams also noted that the 
Resolution calls for the contract to be funded out of the revenue collected from issuing 
the City’s business licenses. 
 City resident Michele Linehan asked about the City’s viability for economic 
development. She had attended the meeting of the Advertising and Promotion 
Commission earlier in the day, and thought that the consensus there was that Mountain 
Home did not have the infrastructure required for serious economic development. 
Council member Bob Van Haaren, the chairman of the A&P Commission, replied that the 
City having a lack of prerequisite infrastructure was the opinion of a A&P commissioner, 
but not that of the whole commission. 
 As part of its organization, the Alliance’s board includes the mayor and one Council 
member (positions currently held by Hillrey Adams and Nick Reed, respectively). Council 
member Paige Evans asked City attorney Roger Morgan if there was a potential conflict 
of interest having city officials sit on a board while the City contracted services with that 
organization. Morgan replied that in his opinion, it was a good practice to have the City 



 

 

represented in such an arrangement, and he would be more worried about giving an 
organization City funds with no municipal oversight involved. The City was darned-if-it-
does and darned-if-it-doesn’t, Rogers said: People opposed to the economic development 
contract would likely harrumph at City officials being on the Alliance’s board, but then 
they would also criticize the City if it awarded the funds and did not receive any oversight 
of how those funds are used. 
 Council member Bob Van Haaren made a motion to adopt the proposed 
Resolution and was seconded by Council member Carry Manuel. The vote was recorded 
as follows: Yes – All present. The Resolution was declared adopted and numbered 
Resolution No. 2024-16. 
 
CITY CLERK’S NOTE A copy of the economic development contract is included in both the 
printed and electronic copies of Resolution No. 2024-16. A copy of the contract is also 
included in the Exhibit Files from this Council meeting. 
 
PETITIONS AT CITY PARKS AND THE FARMERS MARKET Council member Paige Evans 
asked about an update as to whether petitions are permitted to be circulated in City parks 
and at the City’s Farmers Market. The topic had come up in discussion before the Council 
last month, particularly whether petitions were permitted at the Farmers Market. One 
applicant in the past had been told that petitions were not permitted at the Market, but 
several booths had been circulating petitions this year. 
 Jeff Quick of the North Central Arkansas Food Bank addressed the Council. The 
Food Bank organizes and supervises the Farmers Market on behalf of the City. Quick said 
last year the Food Bank decided to not allow petitions at the Farmers Market in an effort 
to keep the Food Bank as politically neutral as possible. This year, the decision had been 
made to allow petitions if the petitioner rented booth space. 
 Mayor Hillrey Adams said it was up to the Council to decide if they wanted to 
change policies but noted it might be easier to wait until the start of next year’s Farmers 
Market season to enact changes rather than adopt new policies mid-season. 
 City attorney Roger Morgan noted that both the parks and the Farmers Market is 
City property, so ultimately the decision as to what is or isn’t allowed there is up to the 
City. If some petitions have already been allowed at the Farmers Market, the best practice 
would be to allow all petitions, at least for this season, he said. 
 City resident Michele Linehan asked if this meant petitions could be circulated at 
the City Pool or inside City parks. Council member Bob Van Haaren noted that with the 
Farmers Market, petitioners were renting a booth space to collect signatures, so it wasn’t 
a “free-for-all.” He was not sure the City could stop people from just canvassing an area 
with a clipboard seeking signatures. 

Council members expressed interest in revisiting the issue prior to the start of next 
year’s Farmers Market season to craft a more formal set of guidelines as to what can and 
cannot be done petition-wise on City property. 
 
FARMERS MARKET UPDATE Food Bank of North Central Arkansas CEO Jeff Quick asked t 
give the Council a quick update on the Farmers Market since he was in attendance. This 



 

 

year, the Market has 91 season-long vendors and 22 pay-as-you-go vendors, a marked 
increase from the 40-something vendors the Market had when it was still located on the 
Baxter County courthouse square. Last season the Market had 122 vendors, and Quick 
said he thought this year’s final numbers would meet or exceed that. 
 So far this season the Food Bank has provided more than $5,000 in food benefits 
through SNAP and other governmental assistance programs. Vendors can now accept 
WIC, SNAP and Double-Up Bucks. 
 Last year the Farmers Market had about 12,500 visitors and the Food Bank 
accepted 6,600 pounds of donated food from vendors. 
 

7. ADJOURNMENT 
With no further business to come before the council, Mayor Hillrey Adams declared the 
meeting adjourned at 6:03 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
       ______________________________ 

       HILLREY ADAMS, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________ 
SCOTT LILES, CITY CLERK 



Water / Wastewater CommiƩee MeeƟng 
April 16, 2024 

 
 
 
Roll call:  Bob Van Haaren, Nick Reed, Paige Evans, Jennifer Baker, Steve Hill, Mayor Adams, 
ScoƩ Liles, and Kirby Rowland. 
 
Review of Minutes: 
Steve presented minutes from the February 20th and March 19th commiƩee meeƟngs for review 
and approval.  Minutes from both meeƟngs were approved by all commiƩee members present. 
 
Revenue and Expense Report:  Steve   
March 31, 2024 – In checking we have $2,344,005.83.  We conƟnue to contribute funds into the 
Water Expansion, Sewer Expansion and DepreciaƟon accounts.   
 
Project report:  Steve  
7th St. Water Main Upgrade:  Currently working between Bryant and College.  To date we have 
spent $90,715.40 on the project.  Project is progressing slowly due to rock.   
 
Morris and Church Street Water Main Upgrade:  Project has been completed.  Total spent on 
project was $307,487.87.  Paving needs to be done and should be started in the next 2-3 weeks. 
 
10th and J St:  New line is complete and customers are linked.  Old line has been deleted.  
Currently doing clean up and yard work.  We put cold mix in the trench instead of gravel so 
there won’t be gravel strewn everywhere before the Street Department does new overlay.   
 
Lead and Copper Project:  Kirby from Garver will give an update.  There has not been much 
movement on the project since the last meeƟng. 
 
Dyer/Circle/6th Street Sewer Line Upgrade:  Project has been completed.  Finishing up some 
cement and asphalt work.  To date we have spent $355,222.67 on the project.   
 
SW Sewer Extension:  We are digging and laying pipe.  The archeologist was present to watch 
excavaƟon through the archeological sensiƟve area and no arƟfacts were found in the trench, so 
we are clear to move forward. 
There are some changes being made to the current plan.  The proposed changes have 
previously been approved by ADH for a future expansion.  It makes sense to do them now and 
we have the funds to accomplish it.  Originally, we planned to install a 4” and 8” force main and 
acƟvate the 4” immediately.  We have decided not to do the top boring on the eastern side by 
Dollar General.  We will, instead, run gravity sewer from the Big Creek LiŌ StaƟon to the SW LiŌ 
StaƟon.  This will eliminate the Big Creek LiŌ StaƟon and opƟmize the flow through the SW LiŌ 
StaƟon.  We will no longer need the 4” and there will be beƩer flow into the SW LiŌ StaƟon.  



The changes will also open up addiƟonal property in Big Creek Subdivision.  The esƟmated cost 
for the addiƟon is $350,000.   
 
Water Loss Report:  Steve 
Water Loss for March went up again, but aŌer discovering and repairing a major leak off 
Embassy Circle, we are anƟcipaƟng a reducƟon at the end of this month.  We conƟnue to baƩle 
service line leaks (22 work orders currently open).  
 
Update from Kirby (Garver): 
 
LAKE NORFORK WATER INTAKE PROJECT 

 Easement AcquisiƟon on Mr. Dabney property sƟll outstanding. 
 ExpecƟng informaƟon from Congressional delegaƟon soon on parameters of the 

Congressionally Directed Spending grant of $1 million for the design of the Lake Intake, 
Transmission Main, and Water Treatment Plant project.   

 An addiƟonal amount will have to be cost-shared by the City needed to supplement the 
$1 million from the AppropriaƟon Bill for the project design. 
 

WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 2024 IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 
 60% construcƟon documents were submiƩed April 15, 2024.  The contractor’s 60% 

budget report is planned to be available May 13, 2024.  MeeƟngs with the Arkansas 
Department of Health (ADH) and the Arkansas Department of Energy and Environment 
(ADEE) – Division of Environmental Quality are planned to review the 60% construcƟon 
documents.    

  
SW COLLECTION SYSTEM IMPROVEMENTS 

 Work conƟnues on scheduling and coordinaƟng materials and work for construcƟon of 
the project.   

 
2023 WATER AND SEWER MASTER PLAN UPDATE 

 The final Master Plan document is being readied for publishing and distribuƟon.   
 
LEAD AND COPPER RULE COMPLIANCE PROJECT 

 Planning is ongoing for establishing the physical inspecƟons of the recently completed 
service line inventory to meet the Lead and Copper Rule Revisions (LCRR) and the Lead 
and Copper Rule Improvements (LCRI) as promulgated by the Environmental ProtecƟon 
Agency (EPA). 

 
 
 
 



Updates from Steve: 
 
Highway 5 UƟlity RelocaƟon Project: 
We have submiƩed all required paperwork to ARDOT and are waiƟng for them to sign the 
agreement.  Just as a reminder, ARDOT will be doing a 100% reimbursement to the City for the 
project.  We will be using 2024 carryover funds to fund the project and then be reimbursed.  
Steve anƟcipates compleƟng the project in December or January, so it should not be a 
significant hit to our budget or operaƟng expenses. 
 
Waste ConnecƟons Contract: 
The current trash collecƟon contract we have with Waste ConnecƟons expires in October of this 
year.  We are in early discussions and communicaƟon with them regarding future terms, costs, 
and services, including recycling.   
 
MeeƟng adjourned at 5:15 pm. 
 



Street Committee Meeting 
May 21, 2024 – 12:30 p.m. 

 
 

The meeting was called to order at 12:31 p.m. 
 
Present were Scott Manchester, Assistant Director of Streets; Steve Hill, 
Director of Public Works; Paige Evans, Jennifere Baker and Susan Stockton, 
Committee members; Scott Liles, City Clerk. 
 
The Street Report for April was reviewed. 
 
Scott reported the Community Center project is going well, the contractors 
are now working on a building and pool; he said the electric wires were going 
to be pulled today.  Our crews were doing dirt work on another building and 
parking lots.  The total cost of this project as of April 30, 2024, is 
$1,199,176.07.  The Street Department recently sent a request for partial 
payment to the General Fund in the amount of $283,144.09.  This amount 
covers May 11, 2023, through December 31, 2023, for materials, labor and 
equipment the Street Department used.   
 
North Church Street has been completed.  The maintenance crew paved the 
street last week with the new laydown machine.  Scott reported that the 
machine works very well and will be good for the department.  The cost 
through April 30, 2024 is $151,995.10. 
 
The Morris Street rebuild has also been completed.  New asphalt was placed 
by the Street Department with the new laydown machine, and it looks good.  
There is a small amount of landscaping to do on Morris and it will be 
complete.  The cost as of April 30 is $124,529.90. 
 
 



The new box culvert at Cedar Street and concrete ditch that was poured 
between Cedar Street and Spring Street has recently been completed.  The 
cost to this project through April 30, 2024, is $101,597.01.  A grand total will 
be reported at the next meeting.    
 
The rebuild project at 6th Street and Foster is going well.  Curb and gutter has 
been completed and the crew is now working on pouring new sidewalk on 
Foster then they will pour on 6th; the cost as of April 30th is $144,273.24. 
 
Maintenance for the month of April totaled $22,326.09; Maintenance 
consisted of mowing right of ways, cleaning culverts, sign maintenance, 
starting the overlay program.   
 
Overlays have started, with the Maintenance crew milling planned streets to 
get new asphalt.  Scott reported 4th Street will have new asphalt today, and 8th 
Street will be milled tomorrow. 
 
The status of the traffic light at 6th and Main was brought up.  Scott said the 
pole had been scheduled for delivery from Texas on Friday the 17th, but there 
had been a tornado, so the pole was scheduled to be shipped today.   
 
There was a lengthy discussion of a planned rebuild at Bradley Drive.  There 
are still some easements to acquire from some residents living on Cooper 
Estates Drive.  Bradley Drive had a rebuild scheduled in 2016; the project 
began at Highway 62 and the Back 40 restaurant and ended abruptly at the top 
of the hill by the church as agreed by Mayor Joe Dillard and the Street 
Committee at that time.    
 
The meeting was adjourned at 1:06 p.m. 
 

 



 

Public Safety Committee 
REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING  

 MAY 21, 2024 
 

 

The meeting was called to order at 2:00pm, by Wayne Almond, in Council Chambers. 

Committee members 
Committee Chairman Wayne Almond - Present  
Jim Bodenhamer – Not Present  
Carry Manuel – Present  
Bob Van Haaren - Present 
 
City officials 
Mayor Hillrey Adams 
Fire Chief Kris Quick 
Police Chief Eddie Griffin 
City Clerk Scott Liles 
 
City employees 
Operations Manager Toni Taylor (meeting minutes) 
 
 
POLICE/FIRE REPORTS Fire Chief Kris Quick and Police Chief Eddie Griffin delivered their monthly 
reports and figures to the Committee. The tornado siren is being replaced and relocated. A new 
tanker has been purchased by the Mountain Home Rural Fire Protection District to replace the 1999 
tanker and is scheduled to be completed in March of 2026. Lt. Eddie Helmert retired, and Sgt. Lacy 
Holland has been promoted to fill that position. Hunter Whipple will fill the open patrol position and 
attend the academy in August. Josh Pettit has been chosen to fill the 7th SRO vacancy, transferring 
from a patrol sergeant position. 

 

PROHIBITED WEAPONS Scott Liles has formally requested the repeal of city code 7.16.01. All 
members are in favor of advancing this request. 

 

ADJOURN With no more business to discuss, the meeting adjourned at 2:12 pm 

 

NEXT MEETING Will be held on July 16, 2024, at 2 pm. in Council Chambers. 

 
 





















Mountain Home Police Department 
- A duty to serve, an honor to protect - 
424 West 7th Street • Mountain Home, Arkansas 72653 

Office 870.425.6336 • Fax (870) 425.6092 
www.mtnhomepolice.com 

Edward Griffin, Chief of Police 
 

PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
05/21/2024 

              
 

• School Resource Officer, Lieutenant Eddie Helmert retired 05/17/2024. Sergeant Lacy 
Holland was promoted to Lieutenant.  
 

• Sergeant Josh Pettit has been chosen to be the new School Resource Officer; this will 
require Pettit to relinquish his Sergeant’s rank. 
 
 

• The three new police vehicles have been equipped and are operational. 
 

• Hunter Whipple will be filling the vacant patrol position and will attend the police 
academy in August. 
 

 

• Statistics 
 
 

o Criminal Investigation Division (CID) 
o Code Enforcement 
o Patrol Division 
o School Resource Officer Division (SRO) 
o Uniform Code Report (UCR) 
o Nature Code Report (Dispatch) 

http://www.mtnhomepolice.com/


Mountain Home Police Department

Detective Classification Assigned/Cleared

Dates From 04/01/2024 Through 04/30/2024 Page 1 of 1

Print Date: May 02 2024 - 12:42:49 Mountain Home Police Department, CRIMINAL INVESTIGATIONS DIVISION, From 04/01/2024, Through 04/30/2024
Powered by iSOMS(c) Driven by Values CaseManagementReports_CID_Stats_ByClassAssignedCleared TLTAYLOR

Classification Count % To Total Assigned Cleared

ASSAULT-F 1 1.54 1 2

ASSIST OTHER AGENCY 5 7.69 5 5

BATTERY-F 2 3.08 2 1

BATTERY-M 2 3.08 2 2

BREAKING OR ENTERING FROM VEHI 1 1.54 1 4

COMMERCIAL BURGLARY 2 3.08 2 0

DEATH INVESTIGATION-ACCIDENTAL 1 1.54 1 1

FLEEING 1 1.54 1 1

FORGERY 4 6.15 4 3

HARASSMENT 3 4.62 3 1

INCIDENT 8 12.31 8 9

MINOR IN POSSESSION 1 1.54 1 1

POSS OF CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE-F 7 10.77 7 2

POSSESSION OF FIREARMS BY CERT 1 1.54 1 0

SEXUAL ASSAULT-F 4 6.15 4 1

SEXUAL MISCONDUCT 1 1.54 1 1

TERRORISTIC THREATENING 1 1.54 1 1

THEFT-F 12 18.46 14 5

THEFT-M 7 10.77 7 7

VIOLATION OF PROTECTION ORDER 1 1.54 1 0

Reported Cases 65 67 47



Mountain Home Police Department

Code Enforcement Stats - By Report Type

Report Dates From 04/01/2024 Through 04/30/2024 Page 1 of 1

Print Date: May 02 2024 - 13:49:21 Mountain Home Police Department, From 04/01/2024, Through 04/30/2024
Powered by iSOMS(c) Driven by Values Code-Enforcement_Stats_ByReportType TLTAYLOR

Report Type Count % To Total

1993-021 STREETS & SIDEWALKS (DRAINAGE, ROW 
MAINTENANCE)

1 0.59

1996-018 ANIMAL CONTROL / LICENSING DOGS &CATS 1 0.59

2020-20 MAINTENANCE OF REAL PROPERTY 163 96.45

2020-4 BOARDING & SECURING BUILDINGS 1 0.59

2022-29 UNSANITARY CONDITIONS 3 1.78

Report Count: 169



Mountain Home Police Department

Activity Summary - By Activity Type - Patrol

Dates From 04/01/2024 Through 04/30/2024 Page 1 of 2

Print Date: May 02 2024 - 11:18:36 Mountain Home Police Department, From 04/01/2024, Through 04/30/2024
Powered by iSOMS(c) Driven by Values Employee-DailyLog_Stats_Activity TLTAYLOR

Description Count

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE 14

BUILDING CHECK 120

CITIZEN CONTACT 18

SECURED WEAPONS 252

SEARCH - VEHICLE 26

TRAFFIC ARREST 29

ANIMAL CALL / TRAPS 1

OTHER DISTURBANCE 43

PARK CHECK 481

FINGERPRINT 10

FIRE DEPARTMENT ASSIST 10

ANIMAL CALL 34

MEDICAL ASSIST 33

ALARM CALL 37

TRAFFIC STOP 360

ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION 71

TRAINING 14

SEARCH - K9 14

SCHOOL CHECK 75

CAR SEAT CHECK / INSTALLATION 1

BREATH TEST ADMINISTERED 5

DRE EVALUATION 1

WARRANT OF ARREST 34

FUNERAL ESCORT 8

MOTORIST ASSIST 19

OTHER DEPARTMENT ARREST 3

OTHER PUBLIC SERVICE 41

WARNING GIVEN 256

VEHICLE UNLOCK 58

INCIDENT / OFFENSE REPORT 101

ADMINISTRATIVE DUTIES 128

WELFARE CHECK 60

RESIDENT ASSIST 5

DRUG ARREST 3

COURT APPEARANCE 10

COMPLAINT 294



Mountain Home Police Department

Activity Summary - By Activity Type - Patrol

Dates From 04/01/2024 Through 04/30/2024 Page 2 of 2

Print Date: May 02 2024 - 11:18:36 Mountain Home Police Department, From 04/01/2024, Through 04/30/2024
Powered by iSOMS(c) Driven by Values Employee-DailyLog_Stats_Activity TLTAYLOR

Description Count

OFFICER ASSIST 282

VEHICLE / EQUIPMENT INSPECTION / MAINTENANCE 233

CRIMINAL ARREST 40

Count: 3224



Mountain Home Police Department

Activity Summary - By Activity Type - SRO

From 04/01/2024 Through 04/30/2024 Page 1 of 3

Print Date: May 02 2024 - 12:47:40 Mountain Home Police Department, From 04/01/2024, Through 04/30/2024
Powered by iSOMS(c) Driven by Values Juvenile-Activity_Summary_ByActivity TLTAYLOR

Activity / Event Count % To Total

Accidents - Parking Lot 1 0.12

Accidents - Pedestrian/Vehicle 0 0.00

Accidents - Property Damage 0 0.00

Accidents - Street 1 0.12

Administrative Duties 26 3.24

Alcohol Arrest - (notate citation # in note section) 0 0.00

Assist. - F. D. 1 0.12

Assist. - Other Agency 5 0.62

Assist. - School Admin. 144 17.93

Athletic Event (Other) - notate quantity 1 0.12

Baseball Game(s) - notate quantity 8 1.00

Basketball Game(s) - notate quantity 1 0.12

Classes Given 42 5.23

Classroom Activity 2 0.25

Classroom Lectures - MHPS 0 0.00

Classroom Lectures - Public 0 0.00

Consultation - Female Students 65 8.09

Consultation - Male Students 101 12.58

Consultation - Parents 33 4.11

Court Appearances 1 0.12

Criminal Arrest - (notate citation # in note section) 5 0.62

DRE - call out/investigation 0 0.00

Drug Arrest - (notate citation # in note section) 2 0.25

Faculty Assist - (MHPS) 115 14.32

Football Game(s) - notate quantity 0 0.00

Incident Report - (notate report # in note section) 4 0.50

K-9 Training (Monthly) 5 0.62

Medical Assist 6 0.75

Meetings - Department/City Wide (only) 2 0.25
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Meetings - Other 7 0.87

Meetings - School 3 0.37

Meetings - SRO Divisional 3 0.37

MHPS Building or Property Perimeter Check 105 13.08

Miscellaneous 6 0.75

Motorist Assist 0 0.00

Offense Report - (notate report # in note section) 5 0.62

Officer Assist 34 4.23

Public Service 12 1.49

Referrals/Other agency assist 1 0.12

Soccer Game(s) - notate quantity 4 0.50

Softball Game(s) - notate quantity 7 0.87

Special Events - Non Athletic 9 1.12

Time Off - Bereavement - (+ 1 for each day off - notate hrs in note section) 0 0.00

Time Off - Comp. - (+1 for each day off - notate hrs in the note section) 1 0.12

Time Off - Personal Day - (+1 for each day off - notate hrs in note section) 3 0.37

Time Off - Sick - (+1 for each day off - notate hrs in note section) 3 0.37

Time Off - Vacation - (+1 for each day off - notate hrs in note section) 7 0.87

Track Meet(s) - notate quantity 1 0.12

Traffic Arrest - (notate citation # in note section) 0 0.00

Training - (notate training/class name in note section) 17 2.12

Trespass Warning 0 0.00

Vehicle Unlock 2 0.25

Vehicle/Equipment Inspection/Maintenance 2 0.25

Volleyball Game(s) - notate quantity 0 0.00

Warrant - MHPD 0 0.00

Warrant - Other Agency 0 0.00

Wrestling Match(es) - notate quantity 0 0.00
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Total Activity / Events: 803
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Description Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Total % Total
AGGRAVATED ASSAULT 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

ANIMAL BITE 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

ASSAULT - 3RD DEGREE CLASS C MISD 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

ASSISTING OTHER AGENCY 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2.75

BATTERY - 2ND DEGREE / INJURES PERSONS D 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

BATTERY - 3RD DEGREE CLASS A MISD 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

BREAKING OR ENTERING(BUILDING, STRUCTURE, VEHICLE) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

BURGLARY / COMMERCIAL 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

COMMUNICATING FALSE ALARM 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

COMPUTER FRAUD 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE, POSSESSION 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 6.59

CRIMINAL MISCHIEF 2ND DEGREE(RECKLESSLY) 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

CRIMINAL TRESPASS - CLASS A MISD 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

CRIMINAL TRESPASS - CLASS C MISD 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

DELIVERY OF A SCHEDULE I OR SCHEDULE II CONTROLLED 
SUBSTANCE THAT IS NOT METHAMPHETAMINE OR COCAINE

0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

DISORDERLY CONDUCT 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8 4.40

DOMESTIC BATTERY-3RD-CLASS A MISD 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1.65

DRIVING WHILE LIC SUSP OR REV (NON-DWI) 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

DRIVING WHILE LICENSE SUSP/REV FOR DWI 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

DRUG PARAPHERNALIA, POSSESSION 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6 3.30

DWI 1ST DRUGS 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

DWI 1ST OFF 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1.65

DWI 2ND OFF 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

ENDANGERING THE WELFARE OF MINOR IN THE THIRD DEGREE 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

EVIDENCE ONLY 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

FLEEING 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

FORGERY 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2.20

FRAUDULENT USE OF A CREDIT CARD / OTHER 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55
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HARASSING COMMUNICATIONS 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2.75

HARASSMENT-STRIKE/SHOVE/KICK/THREATEN TO 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1.65

INCIDENT 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 10.44

INTERFERENCE WITH CUSTODY 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

MINOR IN POSSESSION OF - TOBACCO PRODUCTS, VAPOR 
PRODUCTS, ALTERNATIVE NICOTINE PRODUCTS, E-LIQUID P

0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1.65

OBTAINING A SIGNATURE BY DECEPTION 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

POSSESSION OF FIREARM BY CERTAIN PERSONS 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

PUBLIC INTOXICATION - CLASS C 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2.75

SEXUAL ASSAULT IN 2ND DEGREE 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

SEXUAL ASSUALT 3RD DEGREE 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

SEXUAL EXTORTION 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

SEXUAL INDECENCY WITH A CHILD 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

TERRORISTIC THREATENING 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

THEFT BY DECEPTION 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2.20

THEFT BY RECEIVING 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

THEFT OF PROPERTY-ALL OTHER 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 10.44

THEFT OF PROPERTY-FROM A BUILDING 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 2.75

THEFT OF PROPERTY-FROM MOTOR VEH-NO PART 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1.10

THEFT OF PROPERTY-MOTOR VEH PARTS/ACCESS 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

THEFT OF PROPERTY LOST, MISLAID, OR DELIVERED BY MISTAKE. 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

VIOLATION OF A PROTECTION ORDER CLASS A MISD 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

VIOLATION OF NO CONTACT ORDER 0 0 0 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 1.65

WARRANT-COC FAIL TO PAY FINE 0 0 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 4.95

WARRANT-CONTEMPT OF COURT 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

WARRANT-FAILURE TO APPEAR 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 7.14

WARRANT-OTHER 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

WARRANT-OTHER AGENCY-MISDEMEANOR 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 2.20

WARRANT-OTHER AGENCY FELONY 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55
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WARRANT-PROBATION VIOLATION 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0.55

Totals: 0 0 0 182 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 182



CFS By Department - Select Department By Date
For MOUNTAIN HOME POLICE DEPARTMENT 04/01/2024 00:00 - 04/30/2024

Baxter County 911
815 HWY 62 W Mountain Home , AR 72653

Saving Lives Behind The Scenes

MOUNTAIN HOME POLICE DEPARTMENT Count Percent
Abandoned Vehicle 3 0.27%

Abuse 1 0.09%

Accident (Entrapment/Rollover) 1 0.09%

Accident (Hit & Run) 1 0.09%

Accident (No Injuries) 41 3.64%

Accident (Parking Lot) 19 1.69%

Accident (Property Damage) 1 0.09%

Accident (Unknown Injuries) 11 0.98%

Accident (With Injuries) 3 0.27%

Alarm (Business) 29 2.58%

Alarm (Residential) 9 0.80%

Alarm (Smoke/Fire) 2 0.18%

Alcohol Related 3 0.27%

Animal Call 36 3.20%

Assault 2 0.18%

Assist Ambulance 1 0.09%

Assist Other Agency 20 1.78%

Attempt To Locate 14 1.24%

Break In 5 0.44%

Burn Complaint 1 0.09%

Child Custody 4 0.36%

Civil Matter 10 0.89%

Civil Stand-By 7 0.62%

Code / Ordinance Violation 1 0.09%

Death 1 0.09%

Direct Traffic 1 0.09%

Disorderly Conduct 2 0.18%

Dispute 8 0.71%

Disturbance 16 1.42%

Domestic (Physical) 8 0.71%

Domestic (Verbal) 10 0.89%

Drug Related 6 0.53%

Duplicate Call 2 0.18%

Extra Patrol Request 2 0.18%

Fight In Progress 1 0.09%

Fire (Structure) 1 0.09%

Fire (Vehicle) 2 0.18%

Follow-Up 13 1.16%

Fraud 1 0.09%

Funeral Escort 6 0.53%

Gas Odor/Break 1 0.09%
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MOUNTAIN HOME POLICE DEPARTMENT Count Percent
Gun Call 2 0.18%

Gunshots/Sounds of 1 0.09%

Hang Up Call 3 0.27%

Harassment 6 0.53%

Identity Theft 1 0.09%

Lift Assist 2 0.18%

Lockout 62 5.51%

Loitering 2 0.18%

Lost Property 3 0.27%

Medical Dispatch 3 0.27%

Missing Juvenile 1 0.09%

Missing Person 4 0.36%

Motorist Assist 7 0.62%

Noise Complaint 2 0.18%

Non-Emergency 12 1.07%

Open Line 1 0.09%

Overdose 1 0.09%

Panhandling 3 0.27%

Property Damage 2 0.18%

Property Found Or Recovered 1 0.09%

Psychiatric/Behavioral 3 0.27%

Pursuit 3 0.27%

Reckless Driver 32 2.84%

Rescue Medical 10 0.89%

Road Rage 2 0.18%

Runaway 1 0.09%

SCAM CALL 3 0.27%

Service Call 7 0.62%

Sexual Assault 1 0.09%

Shooting 1 0.09%

Shoplifting 11 0.98%

Stolen Vehicle 1 0.09%

Suicidal 7 0.62%

Suspicious Activity 22 1.96%

Suspicious Person 42 3.73%

Suspicious Vehicle 6 0.53%

Theft 25 2.22%

Threats 6 0.53%

Traffic Hazard 15 1.33%

Traffic Stop 401 35.64%

Trespassing 25 2.22%

Unattended Juvenile 12 1.07%

Unlawful Dumping 2 0.18%

Unruly Juvenile 6 0.53%

Water Leak 1 0.09%

Welfare Check 55 4.89%

Total Records For MOUNTAIN HOME POLICE DEPARTMENT 100.00%1125 Group/Total
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we 

 exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.  Such procedures include
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the
City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is
expressed.

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 conclude whether, in our judgment, there are no conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department’s ability to continue as
a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified 
during the audit. 

Emphasis of Matter 

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the water and wastewater department of the City of 
Mountain Home, Arkansas, and do not purport to, and do not present fairly the financial position of the City of Mountain 
Home as of December 31, 2023, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows, where applicable, for the year 
then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Schedule of the Department’s 
Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and the Schedule of Department Contributions be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it 
to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries 
of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our 
audit of the basic financial statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such missing 
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements 
in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  Our opinion of the basic financial statements is not 
affected by this missing information. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department’s basic financial statements.  The Schedule of Operating 
Expenses, Schedule of Revenue Bonds Outstanding, and the Schedules of Water and Wastewater Usage Rates and 
Consumption are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial 
statements.  Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.  The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other 
additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  In 
our opinion, the Schedule of Operating Expenses, the Schedule of Revenue Bonds Outstanding, and the Schedules of 
Water and Wastewater Usage Rates and Consumption are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic 
financial statements as a whole. 
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 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Members of City Council 
City of Mountain Home, Arkansas 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, 
Arkansas, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas’ basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department as of December 31, 2023, and the 
changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be 
independent of the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater 
department’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including 
any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report.  The other information comprises 
the Schedule of City Officials but does not include the basic financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  Our 
opinion on the basic financial statements does not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or 
any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and 
consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the basic financial statements, or 
the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work performed, we conclude that 
an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required to describe it in our report. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated April 30, 2023, on our 
consideration of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas water and wastewater department's internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements 
and other matters.  The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the City of Mountain Home water and wastewater department’s internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
in considering the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas water and wastewater department's internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 

Ballard & Company, Ltd. 
Ballard & Company, Ltd. 
Mountain Home, Arkansas 
April 30, 2023 
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ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,450,312$         
Accounts receivable 891,548             
Inventory 483,678             

Total current assets 3,825,538          

Restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 15,524,250         

Capital assets:
Nondepreciable assets 9,673,422          
Depreciable assets, net of accumulated depreciation 33,797,160         

Total capital assets 43,470,582         

Total assets 62,820,370         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 1,102,892          
Deferred outflows related to bonds 96,685

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,199,577          

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities - payable from current assets:

Accounts payable 58,380
Payroll liabilities 103,903             
Sanitation fees payable 250,585             
Compensated absences 149,411             
Other current liabilities 16,144

Total from current assets 578,423             

Current liabilities - payable from restricted assets:
Meter deposits 714,229             
Current maturities - refunding bonds payable 1,217,000          

Total from restricted assets 1,931,229          

Long-term liabilities:
Compensated absences 277,477             
Revenue and refunding bonds payable, net of current
            maturities, discounts and premium 15,682,712         
Unspent proceeds - ARPA funds 1,924,888          
Net pension liability 3,349,091          

Total long-term liabilities 21,234,168         

Total liabilities 23,743,820         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 30,188

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 36,677,722         
Restricted:

Debt service 38,158
Capital projects 1,532,829          
Other 17,425

Unrestricted 1,979,805          

Total net position 40,245,939$       

CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2023

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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OPERATING REVENUES
Water service 5,553,122$    
Wastewater service 3,587,140      
New service charges 119,217         
Billing fees 50,244           
Penalties 99,637           
Expansion charges 41,150           
Other 23,356           

Total operating revenue 9,473,866      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Water department 3,756,290      
Wastewater department 2,926,547      
Depreciation expense 2,402,499      

Total operating expenses 9,085,336      

Operating income (loss) 388,530         

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Interest income 749,848         
Gain on disposal of assets 69,070           
Interest expense (527,471)        
Fiscal agent fees (3,600)            

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 287,847         

Income (loss) before capital contributions and transfers 676,377         

Capital contributions 719,561         
Transfers in 350,000         

Total capital contributions and tranfers 1,069,561      

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,745,938      

Net Position - Beginning of Year 38,500,001    

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 40,245,939$  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Receipts from customers 9,395,391$      
 Payments for employee services (3,300,374)       
 Payments to other funds (440,112)          
 Payments for supplies and services (2,857,471)       

       Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 2,797,434        

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIE
    Transfers in from other funds 350,000           

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIE

 Principal paid on bonds payable (1,202,000)       
 Interest paid on bonds payable and deposit (508,819)          
 Fiscal agent fees paid (3,600) 
 Cash received from grant proceeds 40,392             
 Cash received from sale of assets 64,714             
 Cash paid to purchase and construct assets (4,471,526)       

       Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Capital and Related
          Financing Activities (6,080,839)       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
     Cash received from interest earned 749,848           

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH (2,183,557)       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 20,158,119 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 17,974,562$    

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provide
     (Used In) Operating Activities

      Operating income (loss) 388,530$         
      Depreciation expense 2,402,499        
 (Increase) Decrease in Assets and Increase (Decrease) in Liabilities

  Accounts receivable (95,412)            
  Inventory 24,093             
  Deferred outflows of resources (40,246)            
  Accounts payable (47,412)            
  Accrued salaries and compensated absence (1,362) 
  Other accrued liabilities 4,275 
  Deferred inflows of resources (66,543)            
  Net pension liablity 212,075           
  Meter deposits refundable 16,937             

   Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 2,797,434$      

Reconciliation of Total Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Yea
Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 2,450,312$      
Restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 15,524,250 

17,974,562$    

Reconciliation of Total Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Yea
Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 2,682,924$      
Restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 17,475,195 

20,158,119$    

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT
CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 1:  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting Entity 

The City of Mountain Home, Arkansas, (the City) was incorporated in 1888 and operates under a Mayor - Council 
form of government.  The water and wastewater department (the Department) is responsible for the operation 
and maintenance of the City’s water supply, treatment and distribution system as well as its wastewater 
treatment system.   

The financial statements of the Department have been prepared and are presented herewith, separately from 
the comprehensive financial statements of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas.  These financial statements 
are intended to present only the financial position, results of operations and cash flows attributable to the 
Department and are not intended to, and do not, reflect the financial position, results of operation and cash flows 
of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas as a whole. 

Basis of Accounting 

The water and wastewater department is used to account for the operations of the City of Mountain Home, 
Arkansas’ proprietary fund and is an enterprise fund.  Enterprise funds are for operations which are financed 
and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body is that 
the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing services to the general public be financed or recovered 
primarily through user charges. 

The financial statements of the Department are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to enterprise funds of governmental entities 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of the timing of the related 
cash flows.  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for 
state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations). 

Basis of Presentation 

The presentation of the Department’s financial statements follows the requirement of GASB Statement No. 34, 
Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments 
(GASB Statement No. 34) – applicable to enterprise funds, as amended.  In accordance with the requirements 
of GASB Statement No. 34, the Department’s net position is categorized into net investment in capital assets, 
restricted and unrestricted, as applicable.  In addition, operating income reported in the financial statements 
includes revenues and expenses related to the primary continuing operations of the fund.  Principal operating 
revenues are charges to customers for water, wastewater, and related services.  Principal operating expenses 
include the costs of providing these services, administrative expenses, and depreciation of capital assets. All 
revenue and expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as nonoperating revenue and expenses. 

Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and disclosed in the notes.  Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

Budget and Budgetary Accounting 

Enterprise fund service delivery levels are determined by the extent of consumer demand. Because enterprise 
fund revenues and expenses fluctuate with the changing service delivery levels, accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America do not require the financial statements to include budgetary 
comparisons.  Accordingly, such comparisons have not been included. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

   NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and cash with fiscal agents. Cash equivalents 
consist of money market funds investing in U.S. Treasury Securities and are stated at cost.   

Accounts Receivable 

Consumer accounts receivable reflects the balances due from the individuals and entities using the water and 
wastewater services provided by the Department.  These consumers are substantially all local residents and 
business, as well as other municipalities and public water authorities that purchase treated water for resale to 
their residents. 

Management closely monitors outstanding balances and evaluates collectability of its accounts receivable on 
a per-customer basis.  Customer accounts are typically collected within a short period of time, and based on 
its assessment of current conditions, management believes realization losses on the amount outstanding at 
the end of 2023 will be immaterial.  Accordingly, the account balance is reported at the full amount outstanding. 

Inventories 

Inventories held by the water and wastewater department are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out 
method) or market. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets which are purchased or constructed are reported at historical cost.  Contributed assets are 
reported at fair market value as of the date received.  All capital assets are depreciated by the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives.  Maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are charged against 
earnings when incurred.  Additions, betterments and major renewals are capitalized.  

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Structures and Improvements    20-50 Years
Water and Wastewater System 20-50 Years
Machinery and Equipment  5-20 Years

Accounts Payable 

Accounts payable consists of various trade accounts which are generally payable within thirty (30) days. 

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

Deferred outflows/inflows of resources are financial statement elements distinct from assets and liabilities and 
represent a consumption or production of net position that applies to future periods and so will not be 
recognized as an outflow or inflow of resources until then.  The Department’s deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources consist of deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to the Department’s pension plan 
activities, as further discussed in Note 10, and the deferred loss on refunding of bonds payable.  A deferred 
loss on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price 
and is amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding bonds. 

Pensions 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Arkansas Public Employees Retirement System (APERS) have been determined on the same basis as they 
are reported by APERS.   
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued 

Long-term Debt 

Long-term debt is reported net of any applicable discounts and premiums.  Discounts and premiums are 
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds.   

Compensated Absences 

Based on the City’s personnel policies, employees are allowed to accumulate earned but unused vacation, 
compensatory time, and sick leave benefits.  In the event of termination, an employee is paid for accumulated 
vacation leave, compensatory time, and vested accumulated sick leave.  The maximum number of hours that 
can be accumulated for vacation and sick leave and vesting of sick leave by employees  are dependent upon 
an employee’s years of service.  A liability has been recorded for the value of accumulated vacation leave, 
compensatory time and sick leave payable. 

Net Position 

Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources, and is classified into the following categories: 

* Net Investment in Capital Assets - consists of net capital assets reduced by outstanding balances of
any related debt obligations and deferred inflows of resources attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets and increased by balances of deferred outflows of
resources related to those assets.

* Restricted net position – net position is considered restricted if its use is constrained to a particular
purpose.  Restrictions are imposed by external organizations such as federal or state laws or buyers of
the City’s bonds.  Restricted net position is restricted assets reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows
of resources related to the restricted assets.

*  Unrestricted net position - consists of all other net position that does not meet the definition of the above
two components and is available for general use of the Department.

When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, 
management applies unrestricted net position first, unless a determination is made to use restricted net 
position.  The City’s policy concerning which to apply first varies with the intended use and legal requirements. 
Management typically makes this decision on a transactional basis at the incurrence of the expenditure. 

   NOTE 2: CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

State law generally provides that municipal funds be deposited in federally insured banks located in the State 
of Arkansas.  These deposits may be in the form of checking accounts, savings accounts, and/or certificates 
of deposit.  Public funds may also be invested in direct obligations of the United States of America and 
obligations on which the principal and interest are fully guaranteed by the United States of America.   

The carrying amount of the Department’s cash deposits was $17,974,562 and the respective bank balances 
totaled $18,285,201.  Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas will not be 
able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities.  The Department’s policy is to place 
deposits only in collateralized or insured accounts. As of December 31, 2023, all bank balances of the 
Department were fully insured or collateralized.  

Cash equivalents consist of funds invested in the Northern Institutional Treasury Portfolio Money Market Fund, 
and are held by First Security Bank, trustee for the Series 2017 and 2020 Revenue Refunding Bonds and the 
Series 2022 Revenue Bonds. The funds as of December 31, 2023 totaled $11,296,718. 
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NOTE 3:  CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 was as follows:

BEGINNING ENDING
BALANCE INCREASES DECREASES BALANCE

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land and land rights 257,857$       -$  -$  257,857$       
Construction in progress 7,294,167      2,571,593      (646,595)        9,219,165      
Water storage rights 196,400         - - 196,400         

7,748,424      2,571,593      (646,595)        9,673,422      

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Structures and improvements 31,223,005    - - 31,223,005    
Mains and lines 30,480,589    1,704,058      - 32,184,647 
Machinery and equipment 8,577,543      830,364         (76,604)          9,331,303      

70,281,137    2,534,422      (76,604)          72,738,955    

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Structures and improvements (15,415,878)   (905,257)        - (16,321,135) 
Mains and lines (15,101,841)   (832,313)        - (15,934,154) 
Machinery and equipment (6,091,038)     (664,929)        69,461           (6,686,506) 

(36,608,757)   (2,402,499)     69,461           (38,941,795)   

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 33,672,380    131,923         (7,143)            33,797,160    

Capital assets, net 41,420,804$  2,703,516$    (653,738)$      43,470,582$  

         Depreciation expense was charged to the water and wastewater departments as follows:

Water department 1,384,569$    
Wastewater department 1,017,930      

2,402,499$    

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT
CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

 NOTE 4: RESTRICTED ASSETS 

Restricted assets consist of cash and equivalents restricted by various bond ordinances and the City Council 
for debt service and other specific uses.  Restricted assets as of December 31, 2023 were as follows: 

NOTE 5:   LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 

Changes in long-term liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2023 are as follows: 

 AMOUNTS 

BEGINNING   ENDING  DUE WITHIN

BALANCE  ADDITIONS  REDUCTIONS  BALANCE  ONE YEAR 

  Bonds Payable: 
 2017 refunding bonds $       252,000 $      0  $      (252,000) $       0  $       0 

2020 refunding bonds 7,904,000 0  (950,000)  6,954,000  1,217,000 

2022 revenue bonds 10,000,000  0 0  10,000,000  0 

Total long-term debt $ 18,156,000  $     0  $   (1,202,000)  $ 16,954,000  $   1,217,000 

  Other Liabilities: 
  Compensated absences $        425,901  $    292,929  $      (291,942) $      426,888  $       149,411 

BONDS PAYABLE 

2017 Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Under the authority of Ordinance 2017-16, dated September 21, 2017, the City issued revenue refunding 
bonds in the amount of $3,463,000, bearing interest at 2.10% per annum through April 15, 2023, to refund the 
2013 Series Bonds.  The net proceeds of $3,394,803 (after discount and the payment of bond issuance costs), 
were deposited with an escrow agent to immediately refund the outstanding principal, plus accrued interest, 
of the Series 2013 Bonds.  As a result, the 2013 Series Bonds were considered defeased and the funds and 
all related liabilities were removed from the accounts of the water and wastewater department.  

The City refunded the 2013 Bonds to reduce its total debt service requirements over the next 6 years.  The 
refunding resulted in a difference in the amount of $47,678 between the reacquisition price and the net carrying 
amount of the old debt.  This difference was being amortized over the life of the bonds. 

The Series 2017 bonds were secured by a pledge of the system revenues and were issued at a discount of 
$31,167 with total issuance costs of $37,000.  The discount were being amortized over the life of the bonds. 
The issuance costs were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2017. 

The Series 2017 bonds were retired during the year ended December 31, 2023. 

Debt service funds   $      38,158 
Depreciation funds 1,090,121 
Expansion funds 330,139 
Meter deposit fund 731,654 
Capital project funds 13,334,178 

Total restricted assets $ 15,524,250   
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 5: LONG-TERM LIABILITIES - Continued 

BONDS PAYABLE – Continued 

2020 Revenue Refunding Bonds 

Under the authority of Ordinance 2020-14, dated October 01, 2020, the City issued revenue refunding bonds 
in the amount of $8,809,000, bearing interest at varying rates through June 15, 2029, to refund the 2004 and 
2019 Series Bonds.  The net proceeds of $8,632,257 (after discount and the payment of bond issuance costs), 
were deposited with an escrow agent to immediately refund the outstanding principal, plus accrued interest, 
of the Series 2004 and Series 2019 Bonds. As a result, the 2004 and 2019 Series Bonds were considered 
defeased and the funds and all related liabilities were removed from the accounts of the water and wastewater 
department.  

The City refunded the 2004 and 2019 Bonds to reduce its total debt service requirements over the next 9 
years.  The refunding resulted in a difference in the amount of $63,328 between the reacquisition price and 
the net carrying amount of the old debt.  This difference, reported in the accompanying financial statements 
as a deferred outflow of resources, is being amortized over the life of the bonds. 

The Series 2020 bonds are payable from and secured by a lien on the system revenues on a parity basis with 
the lien securing the City’s Series 2017 Bonds.  The 2020 Bonds were issued at a discount of $128,666 with 
total issuance costs of $45,265.  The discount is being amortized over the life of the bonds.  The issuance 
costs were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

2022 Revenue Improvement Bonds 

Under the authority of Ordinance 2022-24, dated May 19, 2022, the City issued revenue improvement bonds 
in the amount of $10,000,000, bearing interest at varying rates through June 01, 2042, for the purpose of 
financing the upgrading and improving the City’s wastewater treatment plant.  The net proceeds of $9,779,758 
(after premium and the payment of bond issuance costs), were deposited into the 2022 bond construction 
project fund.  

The Series 2022 bonds are payable from and secured by a lien on the system revenues on a parity basis with 
the lien securing the City’s Series 2017 and the 2020 Bonds.  The 2022 Bonds were issued at a premium of 
$29,585, which will be amortized over the life of the bonds.  A portion of the bond proceeds, totaling $61,077, 
was used to purchase a municipal bond insurance policy and a municipal bond debt service reserve insurance 
policy.  These prepaid insurance policies will be written off over the life of the bonds.  The remaining issuance 
costs, in the amount of $187,231, were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2022. 

Combined redemption requirements of all the bonds payable subsequent to December 31, 2023 are as 
follows: 

Principal  Interest 

12-31-2024 $    1,217,000 $     490,329 
12-31-2025 1,237,000 474,315 
12-31-2026 1,260,000  456,417 
12-31-2027 1,278,000  436,225 
12-31-2028 1,301,000  413,749 
2029 – 2033 3,226,000 1,778,927 
2034 – 2038 3,790,000 1,147,594 
2039 – 2042 3,645,000 308,652 

Total $   16,954,000 $  5,506,208 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 6: DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 

Various debt covenants require that the net revenues of the system shall equal not less than a certain 
percentage of the maximum annual debt service requirements of all outstanding bonds including any 
additional bonds proposed.  

The actual percentage at December 31, 2023 was 206%, computed as follows: 

Operating Income $      388,530   
Plus Depreciation Expense 2,402,499 
Plus Other Income 749,848 

 Funds Available for Debt Service $   3,540,877   

Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirement on  
 on the 2020 and 2022 Bonds $   1,716,417  

Debt Service Coverage Percentage     206% 

NOTE 7: FUND REQUIREMENTS 

The Series 2017, 2020, and 2022 Bond documents established certain funds and the manner in which 
revenues are to be deposited and transferred between the various funds.  Cash funds were deposited and 
transferred as required. 

Meter deposits are customer deposits for which reserves in an amount sufficient to refund the deposits in 
total must be held.  Meter deposits reserves at December 31, 2023 were $731,654, a surplus in the amount 
of $17,425 from the total customer deposits of $714,229.  

NOTE 8: TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS 

Authorized through a general election by the vote of the electors of the City of Mountain Home, $350,000 per 
year is distributed from the City’s sales tax monies for the water and wastewater department.  Transfers and 
payments within the City of Mountain Home’s funds are substantially for the purposes of subsidizing 
operating functions.  

 NOTE 9:  RISK MANAGEMENT 

The water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas has purchased insurance 
coverage to cover potential losses due to the various risks related to the damage to and/or destruction of 
assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters.  The Department participates in 
the Arkansas Municipal League Program for its workers’ compensation coverage.  Rates for municipalities 
participating in this program are revised by class code on an annual basis by the Arkansas Workers' 
Compensation Commission.  The Department also participates in the Arkansas Municipal League Program 
for its building and contents, vehicle, and general liability coverage.  The amount of settlements has not 
exceeded the insurance coverage in the past three years. Further, there were no significant reductions in 
insurance coverage in the major categories of risk from coverage in the prior year.  
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 10:     ARKANSAS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (APERS) 

Plan Description 

The water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas provides pension benefits 
for its eligible employees through the Arkansas Public Employees Retirement System (APERS).  APERS is 
a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit plan that covers municipal employees whose 
municipalities have elected coverage under this system.  The plan was established by the authority of the 
Arkansas General Assembly with the passage of Act 177 of 1957. The costs of administering the plan are 
paid out of investment earnings.  The City of Mountain Home, Arkansas elected to commence retirement 
coverage through APERS on August 1, 2003.  Actual plan participation began with the eligible wages 
reported for September 2003.   

The general administration and responsibility for the proper operation of the System is vested in the thirteen 
members of the Board of Trustees of the Arkansas Public Employees Retirement System (the Board). 
Membership includes five state and five non-state employees, all appointed by the Governor, and three ex-
officio trustees, including the Auditor of the State, the Treasurer of the State and the Director of the 
Department of Finance and Administration. 

Benefits Provided 

Benefit provisions are established by state law and may only be amended by the Arkansas General 
Assembly.  APERS provides retirement, disability and death benefits.  Retirement benefits are determined 
as a percentage of the member’s highest 3-year average compensation times the member’s years of service. 

Members are eligible to retire with a full benefit under the following conditions: 

 at age 65 with 5 years of service,
 at any age with 28 years actual service
 at age 60 with 20 years of actual service if under the old contributory plan (prior to July 01, 2005),

or
 at age 55 with 35 credited service for local elected officials and public safety members.

Members may retire with a reduced benefit at age 55 with at least 5 years of actual service or at any age 
with at least 25 years of service.  

Members are eligible for disability benefits with 5 years of service.  Disability benefits are computed as an 
age and service benefit, based on service and pay at disability.  Death benefits are paid to a surviving spouse 
as if the member had 5 years of service and the monthly benefit is computed as if the member had retired 
and elected the Joint & 75% Survivor option.   

APERS Fiduciary Net Position 

  Detailed information about APERS’ fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued APERS 
Financial Report available at http://www.apers.org/publications. 

Contributions 

Contribution requirements are set forth in Arkansas Code Annotated, Title 24, Chapter 4.  The contributions 
are expected to be sufficient to finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the year and make 
a level payment that, if paid annually over a reasonable period of future years, will fully cover the unfunded 
costs of benefit commitments for services previously rendered (A.C. A. 24-2-701(a)). Members who began 
service prior to July 1, 2005, are not required to make contributions to APERS.  Members who began service 
on or after July 1, 2005, are required to contribute of percentage of their salary, currently 5.50%.  Employers 
are required to contribute at a rate established by the Board of Trustees of APERS based on an actuary’s 
determination of a rate required to fund the plan (A.C.A. 24-2-701(C)(3)).    Employers contributed 15.32% 
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The Department contributed 15.32% of compensation for the year 
ended December 31, 2023, which totaled $383,012. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 10:     ARKANSAS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (APERS) – Continued 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources to Pensions 

As of December 31, 2023, the Department reported a liability of $3,349,091 for its proportionate share of the 
net pension liability.  The collective net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2023, and the total 
pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that 
date.  Each employer’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the employer’s share of 
contributions to the pension plan relative to the total contributions of all participating employers.   

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources to Pensions - Continued 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Department recognized pension expense of $463,814.  As of 
December 31, 2023, the Department reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

$184,927 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the Department’s 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date of June 30, 2023 will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liability for the year ending December 31, 2023.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to the Plan will be recognized in pension 
expense as follows: 

Deferred  
Outflows of 
Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows of 

Resources 

Differences between expected and 
actual experience $     189,049   $       (18,399)   

Changes of assumptions 157,449 0 

Net difference between projected and 
actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 416,842 0 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 154,625 (11,789) 

Department contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 184,927 0 

Total $  1,102,892    $      (30,188) 

Year Ending 
December 31, 

   Net Deferred 
Outflows 

2024 263,089
2025  119,349 
2026 533,469
2027 (28,130)

Total 887,777
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 10:     ARKANSAS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (APERS) – Continued 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total pension liability in the June 30, 2023 actuarial valuation was determined using the following 
actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 

Discount Rate 7.00% 

Wage Inflation Rate 3.25% 

Investment Rate of Return 
(net of investment and administrative 
expenses) 

7.00% 

    Salary Increases 3.25 – 11.00%, including inflation 

    Mortality Table See Below 

The healthy retiree mortality tables, for post-retirement mortality, used in evaluating allowances to be paid 
were 114% and 132% of the PubG-2010 Amount-Weighted Below-Median Income General Retiree 
Mortality tables for males and females, respectively.  The disabled retiree mortality tables, for post-
retirement disabled mortality, used in evaluating allowances to the paid were 114% and 132% of the PubNS-
2010 Amount-Weighted Disabled Retiree Mortality tables for males and females, respectively.  The pre-
retirement mortality tables used were 75% of the PubG-2010 Amount-Weighted Below-Median General 
Employee Mortality tables for active mortality experience.  Mortality rates for a particular calendar year are 
determined by applying the MP-2021 mortality improvement scale to the above-described tables. 

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2023 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial 
experience study for the period July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2022, and were applied to all prior periods 
included in the measurement. 

Long-term Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 
pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates 
of return by the current asset allocation percentage and by adding expected price inflation.  Best estimates 
of arithmetic real rates of return for the 10-year period from 2023 – 2032 were based upon capital market 
assumptions provided by the plant’s investment consultant.  For each major asset class included in the 
plan’s current asset allocation as of June 30, 2023, these best estimates are summarized in the following 
table: 

Asset Class 
Current 

Allocation 

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return 

Broad Domestic Equity 37% 6.19% 
International Equity 24% 6.77% 
Real Assets 16% 3.34% 
Absolute Return 5% 3.36% 
Domestic Fixed 18%   1.79% 

  Total     100% 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

NOTE 10:     ARKANSAS PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM (APERS) - Continued 

Discount Rate 

A single discount rate of 7.00% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single discount rate 
was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.00%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at 
the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference 
between actuarially-determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the 
pension plan fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate 
of 7.00%, as well as what the proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.00%) or 1-percentage point-higher (8.00%) than 
the current rate: 

  1%  
Decrease 
   (6.00%)  

    Current 
Discount Rate 
    (7.00%) 

 1% 
  Increase 
  (8.00%) 

Department’s 
proportionate share 
of the net pension 
liability 5,338,150 3,349,091 1,710,295 

NOTE 11:    ARKANSAS DIAMOND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 

Plan Description 

The City elected to become a participating employer in the Arkansas Diamond Deferred Compensation Plan, 
a Section 457B defined contribution pension plan.  The City adopted the plan on October 27, 2022 and 
elected to commence this retirement option for all active employees on January 01, 2023.   Voya Financial 
is the administrator of the plan.  

Eligibility 

Employees are eligible to participate in the plan when they begin employment with the City.  Further, the City 
does not require a minimum number of hours per week that an employee is required to work in order to 
participate in the plan. 

Contributions 

Contributions to the plan are to be made by the employees only.  The City does not make employer 
contributions (matching or non-matching) to the plan. 
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY  INFORMATION



2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Department's proportion of the net pension liability 
(asset) 0.1083% 0.1082% 0.1151% 0.1118% 0.1196% 0.1098% 0.1199% 0.1189% 0.1149%

Department's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) 1,993,872$    2,763,965$    2,974,026$    2,465,871$    2,823,739$    3,074,499$    901,948$       3,137,016$    3,349,091$    

Department's covered payrol 2,040,802$    2,087,790$    2,081,845$    2,227,922$    2,078,039$    2,277,745$    2,263,973$    2,428,952$    2,500,076$    

Department's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) as a percentage of its covered payroll 97.70% 132.39% 142.86% 110.68% 135.88% 134.98% 39.84% 129.15% 133.96%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 80.39% 75.50% 75.65% 79.59% 78.55% 75.38% 93.57% 78.31% 77.94%

Ten years worth of data will be presented as it is available. Actuarial assumptions and disclosures can be found in Note 10 of the financial statements.

Arkansas Public Employees Retirement System
Last 9 Years

WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT
SCHEDULE OF THE DEPARTMENT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE

OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

See auditor's report on required supplementary information.
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Contractually required contribution 298,508$       302,729$       304,320$       334,620$       317,829$       348,523$       346,841$       372,116$       383,012$       

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution (298,508)        (302,729)        (304,320)        (334,620)        (317,829)        (348,523)        (346,841)        (372,116)        (383,012)        

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  -$  

Department's covered payroll 2,040,802$    2,087,790$    2,081,845$    2,227,922$    2,078,039$    2,277,745$    2,263,973$    2,428,952$    2,500,076$    

Contributions as a percentage of covered 
payroll 14.63% 14.50% 14.62% 15.02% 15.29% 15.32% 15.32% 15.32% 15.32%

Ten years worth of data will be presented as it is available. Actuarial assumptions and disclosures can be found in Note 10 of the financial statements.

CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

SCHEDULE OF THE DEPARTMENT'S CONTRIBUTIONS

Arkansas Public Employees Retirement System
Last 9 Years

See auditor's report on required supplementary information.
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SUPPLEMENTARY AND OTHER INFORMATION



Water Wastewater
Department Department

Administrative Services 220,234$              219,888$            
Chemicals 334,896 43,569 
Data Processing 111,584 107,618 
Dues, Subscriptions, and Publications 1,339 2,267 
Fuel, Vehicles and Equipment 54,675 51,425 
Insurance - General 59,530 56,980 
Insurance - Employees 214,849 200,008 
Laboratory Expense 19,477 21,319 
Miscellaneous 6,475 6,258 
Pension Expense 236,545 227,269 
Permits and Fees 50,298 18,396 
Postage 2,576 2,473 
Professional Fees 111,829 89,224 
Repairs and Maintenance 665,377 212,453 
Salaries, Net of Capitalized Wages 1,193,158             1,085,679 
Supplies - Office 7,810 7,098 
Supplies - Operating 36,126 32,426 
Taxes 94,116 90,840 
Telephone 12,139 12,791 
Travel and Training 6,507 10,452 
Uncollectible Accounts 13,748 - 
Uniforms 13,312 17,252 
Utilities 289,690 410,862 

Total Operating Expenses 3,756,290$           2,926,547$          

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

SCHEDULE OF OPERATING EXPENSES

See auditor's report on supplementary information.
-20-



DUE DATE PRINCIPAL INTEREST COUPON DUE DATE PRINCIPAL INTEREST COUPON

2024 1,217,000$     102,329$        1.250% 2024 -$  388,000$        
2025 1,237,000       86,315 1.375% 2025 - 388,000 
2026 1,260,000       68,417 1.500% 2026 - 388,000 
2027 1,278,000       48,225 1.700% 2027 - 388,000 
2028 1,301,000       25,749 1.800% 2028 - 388,000 
2029 661,000          3,799 1.970% 2029 - 388,000 

2030 610,000          378,088 3.250%
Totals 6,954,000$     334,834$        2031 630,000          357,938 3.250%

2032 650,000          336,731 3.375%
2033 675,000          314,372 3.375%
2034 700,000          288,981 4.000%
2035 725,000          260,481 4.000%
2036 755,000          230,881 4.000%
2037 790,000          199,981 4.000%
2038 820,000          167,269 4.125%
2039 855,000          132,722 4.126%
2040 890,000          96,731 4.125%
2041 930,000          59,194 4.125%
2042 970,000          20,006 4.125%

Totals 10,000,000$   5,171,375$     

SERIES 2022 BONDSSERIES 2020 BONDS

CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT

SCHEDULE OF REVENUE BONDS OUTSTANDING
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

See auditor's report on supplementary information.
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See auditor’s report on supplementary information. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 

SCHEDULE OF WATER USAGE RATES AND CONSUMPTION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

  Residential and Commercial Rates 

For the first 3 months of the year, the monthly water usage rates were as follows: 

Minimum Charge - first 2,000 gallons or less per month. 

Excess over 2,000 gallons per month - $2.87 per 1,000 gallons inside the City; $5.70 per 1,000 gallons 
outside the City  

Minimum Charges: 
   Meter Minimums 
        Per Month 

    Demand Charges 
     Per Month 

Inside Outside Inside Outside 
Residential Customers:  3/4" meter $     8.04 $    16.08 $    7.34 $    14.71 

Commercial Customers:
    3/4" meter 16.08 32.12 11.94 23.86 
    1" meter 27.54 55.05 22.92 45.89 
    1 1/4" meter 41.28 82.58 33.50 66.97 
    1 1/2" meter 56.20 112.38 47.70 95.42
    2" meter 113.54 227.08 85.33 170.64
    3" meter 228.21 456.43 192.19 384.37 
    4" meter 342.90 685.78 344.03 688.08 
    6" meter 672.00 1,344.00 761.53 1,532.09 
    8" meter 1,394.47 2,753.62 1,362.36 2,724.75 

Effective 30 days after the passage of Ordinance 2023-10 approved on March 16, 2023, monthly water usage 
rates were as follows: 

Minimum Charge - first 2,000 gallons or less per month. 

Excess over 2,000 gallons per month - $3.07 per 1,000 gallons inside the City; $6.10 per 1,000 gallons 
outside the City  

Minimum Charges: 
   Meter Minimums 
        Per Month 

    Demand Charges 
     Per Month 

Inside Outside Inside Outside 
Residential Customers:  3/4" meter $     8.59 $    17.21 $    7.85 $    15.74 

Commercial Customers:
    3/4" meter 17.21 34.37 12.78 25.53 
    1" meter 29.47 58.90 24.52 49.10 
    1 1/4" meter 44.17 88.36 35.85 71.65 
    1 1/2" meter 60.13 120.25 51.04 102.10 
    2" meter 12149 242.98 91.30 182.58 
    3" meter 244.18 488.38 205.64 411.28 
    4" meter 366.90 733.79 368.11 736.25 
    6" meter 719.04 1,438.08 814.84 1,639.34 
    8" meter 1,492.08 2,946.37 1,457.73 2,915.48 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the total gallons of treated water billed were 928,432,812. 



 

See auditor’s report on supplementary information. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 

 SCHEDULE OF WATER USAGE RATES AND CONSUMPTION 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 
 

      Wholesale Water Rates 
 
 

Effective with water metered after July 15, 2022, rates charged to wholesale water purchasers were 
established by Ordinance 2021-21 as follows: 

 
  Purchases from the water plant     $4.49 per 1,000 gallons 
  Purchases from the 960-elevation system    $5.01 per 1,000 gallons 
  Purchases from the 1,080-elevation system   $5.24 per 1,000 gallons 
 
 
 

Effective with water metered after September 15, 2023, rates charged to wholesale water purchasers were 
established by Ordinance 2022-25 as follows: 

 
  Purchases from the water plant     $4.82 per 1,000 gallons 
  Purchases from the 960-elevation system    $5.30 per 1,000 gallons 
  Purchases from the 1,080-elevation system   $5.51 per 1,000 gallons 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Water Usage by Class 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2023, usage by class of water users was as follows: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Customer Type 

Average Users 
in Each Class 

Per Month 

 
Water Usage by 

Each Class 
   
Residential 6,664 350,348,369 
Commercial  979 291,120,977 
Industrial/Other 36 9,830,496 
Wholesale 4 277,132,970 



 

See auditor’s report on supplementary information. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 

 SCHEDULE OF WASTEWATER USAGE RATES AND CONSUMPTION 
 FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 
 
 
 

Wastewater Rates 
 

For the first three months of the year, monthly wastewater usage rates were as follows: 
 

Minimum Charge - first 2,000 gallons or less per month. 
 
Excess over 2,000 gallons per month - $3.68 per 1,000 gallons for residential, commercial and industrial 
users; $5.33 per 1,000 gallons for all Baxter County Industrial Park users. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective 30 days after the passage of Ordinance 2023-11, approved on March 16, 2023, monthly wastewater 
usage rates were as follows: 

 
Minimum Charge - first 2,000 gallons or less per month. 
 
Excess over 2,000 gallons per month - $4.12 per 1,000 gallons for residential, commercial and industrial 
users; $5.97 per 1,000 gallons for all Baxter County Industrial Park users. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, usage by class of wastewater users was as follows: 

 
 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Residential wastewater users for the six months of January, February, March, October, November and 
December averaged 5,345 per month.  Residential water gallons for those months totaled 132,951,192, an 
average of 22,158,532 gallons per month. 

 
 
 
 

Customer 
Minimum Charges: 

 
Residential 

Commercial/ 
  Industrial 

Baxter County 
Industrial Park 

 
    3/4" meter $      19.74 $     29.40 $  42.14 
    1" meter         24.65        43.08     55.81 
    1 ½” meter         73.82     86.53 
    2" meter       120.48   133.21 
    3" meter       252.55       
    4" meter       441.54      
    6" meter       965.25      
    8" meter    1,705.27    

Customer 
Minimum Charges: 

 
Residential 

Commercial/ 
  Industrial 

Baxter County 
Industrial Park 

 
    3/4" meter $      22.11 $     32.93 $  47.20 
    1" meter         31.04        48.25     62.51 
    1 ½” meter         82.68     96.91 
    2" meter       134.94   149.20 
    3" meter       282.86       
    4" meter       494.52      
    6" meter    1,081.08      
    8" meter    1,909,90    

 
 
Customer Type 

Average Users in 
Each Class 
Per Month 

 
Water Usage by 

Each Class 
   
Residential 5,343 272,767,797 
Commercial  848 250,472,082 
Industrial Park  17 1,876,273 



See auditor’s report on other information. 
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CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS 
WATER AND WASTEWATER DEPARTMENT 

SCHEDULE OF CITY OFFICIALS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023 

    Position    Official 

Ward 1, Pos. 1  Bob Van Haaren 

Ward 1, Pos. 2 Susan Stockton 

Ward 2, Pos. 1 Jennifer Baker 

Ward 2, Pos. 2 Wayne Almond 

Ward 3, Pos. 1 Paige Evans 

Ward 3, Pos. 2 Carry Manuel 

Ward 4, Pos. 1 Jim Bodenhamer 

Ward 4, Pos. 2 Nick Reed 

Mayor  Hillrey Adams 



OTHER REPORTS



      BALLARD & COMPANY, LTD. 
      CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

      BUSINESS CONSULTANTS 
      Members of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

      Member of the Arkansas Society of Certified Public Accountants 

             668 HIGHWAY 62 EAST 
MOUNTAIN HOME, AR  72653 

870-425-6256

416 N. E. MAIN STREET 
MOUNTAIN VIEW, AR  72560 

870-269-2390

980 ASH FLAT DRIVE 
ASH FLAT, AR  72513               

870-994-2812

352 HIGHWAY 62 EAST 
SALEM, AR  72576        

870-895-2661

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

To the Members of City Council 
City of Mountain Home, Arkansas 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, the financial statements of the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, 
Arkansas, as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas water and wastewater department’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated April 30, 2024.  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the water and wastewater department 
of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for 
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the water and wastewater 
department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas’ internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas’ internal control.   

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention 
by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was 
not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.  

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the water and wastewater department of the City of Mountain 
Home, Arkansas’ financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the financial statements.  However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance. 
This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the entity’s internal control and compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Ballard & Company, Ltd. 
Ballard & Company, Ltd. 
Mountain Home, Arkansas 
April 30, 2024 
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RESOLUTION NO. 2024-x 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING THE WILLINGNESS  

OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME TO UTILIZE  

FEDERAL-AID RECREATIONAL TRAILS PROGRAM FUNDS 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Mountain Home understands Federal-Aid Recreational 

Trails Program Funds are available at 80 percent federal participation and 20 percent local 

match/in-kind labor to develop or improve the McCabe Park trails system;  

WHEREAS, the City of Mountain Home understands that Federal-Aid Funds are 

available for this project on a reimbursable basis, requiring work to be accomplished and 

proof of payment prior to actual monetary reimbursement; 

WHEREAS, this trails project, using federal funding, will be open and available 

for use by the public and maintained by the applicant for the life of the project; 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED  

BY CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME CITY COUNCIL THAT 

 

SECTION 1. The City of Mountain Home will participate in accordance with its 

designated responsibility, including maintenance of this project. 

SECTION 2. Mayor Hillrey Adams is hereby authorized and directed to execute all 

appropriate agreements and contracts necessary to expedite the construction of the above 

stated project. 

SECTION 3. The City Council of the City of Mountain Home pledges its full support and 

hereby authorizes the Arkansas Department of Transportation to initiate action to 

implement this project. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED THIS 6TH DAY OF JUNE, 2024 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

HILLREY ADAMS, MAYOR 



 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_____________________________ 

SCOTT LILES, CITY CLERK 



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-x 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING AND DELETING SECTION 7.16.01  

FROM THE MOUNTAIN HOME CITY CODE;  

AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY THERETO 

 

WHEREAS, the Mountain Home City Council did adopt Ordinance No. 121 on 

September 21, 1954, to create a unified City Code and said Code has been updated 

numerous times since that initial adoption; and 

WHEREAS, Section 7.16.01 of the current City Code prohibits the carrying of an 

edged weapon with a blade longer than three (3) inches as well as prohibits the sale of such 

weapons in the City; and 

WHEREAS, recent court decisions have possibly rendered the City’s ability to 

enforce Section 7.16.01 as untenable; and  

WHEREAS, Arkansas Code Annotated §5-73-120 does address the legalities of 

carrying weapons; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL  

OF THE CITY OF MOUNTAIN HOME, ARKANSAS: 

 

SECTION 1. REPEAL AND REMOVAL FROM CODIFICATION Section 7.16.01 of 

the Mountain Home City Code is hereby repealed and deleted in its entirety. 

SECTION 2. EMERGENCY CLAUSE Proper and correct administration of the laws of 

the State of Arkansas and the City of Mountain Home are vital to the continued health, 

safety and welfare of Mountain Home’s citizens, and therefore an emergency is hereby 

declared, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 6TH DAY OF JUNE, 2024 

 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

HILLREY ADAMS, MAYOR 



 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

SCOTT LILES, CITY CLERK 

































































































































































File No:  24-038973-750 Last revised / updated 4/16/2024 at 5:56 PM

COMMITMENT FOR TITLE INSURANCE

Issued by

Fidelity National Title Insurance Company

SCHEDULE A
Please read the exceptions and the terms shown or referred to herein carefully. The exceptions are meant to provide you with
notice of matters that are not covered under the terms of the title insurance policy and should be carefully considered.

This report is a written representation as to the condition of title for purposes of providing title insurance and lists all liens,
defects, and encumbrances  filed of record within the last  thirty (30) years that have not been released of record or that are
not statutorily expired.

No title insurance agent or any other person other than a licensed Arkansas attorney may provide legal advice concerning the
status of title to the property described in the title commitment.

1. Commitment Date:  March 30, 2024, 8:00 am

2. Policy to be issued:
(a) 2021 ALTA® Owner's Policy

Proposed Insured: Mountain Home SNF Realty LLC

Proposed Policy Amount: $28,300,000.00

(b) 2021 ALTA® Loan Policy

Proposed Insured: To Be Determined

Proposed Policy Amount:

3. The estate or interest in the land described or referred to in this Commitment is Fee Simple.

4. Title to the Fee Simple estate or interest in the land is at the Effective Date vested in: Tract 1:
City of Mountain Home, Arkansas, Nursing and Retirement Home Facilities Board (The Ev.
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society Project)
Tract 2:  The Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Society

5. The land referred to in this Commitment is described as follows:

SEE ATTACHED EXHIBIT "A"

Countersigned by: American Abstract & Title Company  7325 North Hills Blvd, Suite 120 North Little Rock, AR 72116
Arkansas Title Agency License No. 100103940

By: Karrie F Sharp  Title Agent License No.: 9921013

This page is  only  a part of a 2021 ALTA® Commitment for Title Insurance.   This Commitment is not valid without  the Notice;  the
Commitment to Issue  Policy;  the Commitment  Conditions;  Schedule  A; Schedule  B, Part  I-Requirements;  and  Schedule  B, Part
II-Exceptions.

Copyright 2021 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved.

The use of this Form (or any derivative thereof) is restricted to ALTA licensees and
ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other uses are prohibited.
Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association.

Commitment for Title Insurance (7-1-2021)
Schedule A

Page 1

https://lenderstitlegroup.files.titlelook.com/corporate/24-038973-750/dc3a390a-f849-4b82-b562-07fcb9df28ca/vested.pdf?v=1.00


This page is only a part of a 2021 ALTA® Commitment for Title Insurance.  This Commitment is not valid without the Notice; the Commitment to Issue
Policy; the Commitment Conditions; Schedule A; Schedule B, Part I-Requirements; and Schedule B, Part II-Exceptions.

Copyright 2021 American Land Title Association. All rights reserved.
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ALTA members in good standing as of the date of use. All other uses are prohibited.
Reprinted under license from the American Land Title Association.
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EXHIBIT "A"

Tract 1
Part of the Northeast Quarter (NE1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE1/4) of 15, Township
19 North, Range 13 West, and part of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4) of the Southwest
Quarter (SW1/4) of Section 14, Township 19 North, Range 13 West, Baxter County,
Arkansas, more specifically described as follows:  From the Southwest corner of the
said NE1/4 SE1/4 of Section 15, as marked by a county survey monument, go North 00°
21' 19" West 556.78 feet to a 3/8 inch rebar at the Northwest corner of Lot 197, Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on Baxter County Survey Instrument No. RS-19-91;
then go North 88° 43' 37" East 487.23 feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands
Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar on the East line of Partipilo Street; then go South 00 °
30' 55" East 97.63 feet along the East line of Partipilo Street, to a pipe at the Northwest
corner of Lot 201, Carlile Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on said Survey Instrument
RS-19-91; then go North 88° 31' 42" East 124.72 feet along the North line of Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section; then go South 17° 36' 37" East 135.31 feet along the North line
of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section; then go North 88° 53' 43" East 589.47 feet along the
North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar and the Point of
Beginning; then go North 89° 00' 21" East 259.41 feet along the North line of Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar; then go South 00° 40' 30" East 108.92 feet;
then go South 89° 17' 00" East 123.68 feet to a 3/8 inch rebar at the Northeast corner of
Lot 211, Carlile Highlands Fourth Section; then go South 00° 40' 30" East 103.67 feet;
then go South 89° 13' 35" East 302.62 feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands
Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar; then North 00° 13' 30" East 622.5 feet; thence North
89° 17' 30" East 50.0 feet; thence North 01° 10' West 588.8 feet to the South right of way
of Rossi Road; thence South 88° 49' 30" West 475.9 feet along the South right of way of
Rossi Road; thence South 01° 01' 30" East 402.2 feet; thence North 89° 48' West 259.4
feet; thence South 00° 04' West 587.0 feet to the Point of Beginning.

TOGETHER WITH Seaman's Lane, previously Turnage Trail (by Quitclaim Deed from
John W. Partipilo and Marybeth Partipilo, his wife, and Quitclaim Deed from Linda
Saletto f/k/a Linda Partipilo and Vincent Saletto, her husband, to The Evangelical
Lutheran Good Samaritan Society, North Dakota Non-Profit Corporation), described as
follows:  Part of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4) of the Southwest Quarter (SW1/4) of
Section 14, Township 19 North, Range 13 West, Baxter County, Arkansas, more
specifically described as follows:  From the Southwest corner of the NE1/4 SE1/4 of
Section 15, Township 19 North, Range 13 West, as marked by a county survey
monument, go North 00° 21' 19" West 556.78 feet to a 3/8 inch rebar at the Northwest
corner of Lot 197 Carlile Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on Baxter County Survey
Instrument RS-19-91; then go North 88° 43' 37" East 487.23 feet along the North line of
Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar on the East line of Partipilo Street;
then go South 00° 30' 55" East 97.63 feet along the East line of Partipilo Street, to a pipe
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at the Northwest corner of Lot 201, Carlile Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on said
Survey Instrument RS-19-91; then go North 88° 31' 42" East 124.72 feet along the North
line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section; then go South 17° 36' 37" East 135.31 feet along
the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section; then go North 88 ° 53' 43" East 589.47
feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar; then go
North 00° 00' 32" East 586.59 feet to a one inch square iron rod at the Southwest corner
of one acre parcel depicted on Survey Instrument RS-291-86; then go along the South
line of said one acre parcel 210.45 feet to the Southeast corner of said parcel, being the
Southwest corner of the right of way of Seamans Lane, previously referred to as Turnage
Trail, Point of Beginning of tract being described; then go along the West right of way
line of said Seamans Lane North 01° 04' 48" West 401.26 feet to the South right of way
line of Rossi Road; then leaving the West right of way line of Seamans Lane, go along
the South right of way line of Rossi Road North 88° 49' 30" East 49.8 feet to the
Northwest corner of the Good Samaritan Village property as depicted on Survey
Instrument RS-G-49; then leaving the South right of way line of Rossi Road, go along the
boundary of the Good Samaritan Village property, being the East right of way line of
Seamans Lane, South 01° 04' 48" East 402.38 feet to a corner of the Good Samaritan
Village property; then continue along the boundary of the Good Samaritan Village
property North 89° 53' 16" West 49.8 feet along the South right of way line of Seamans
Lane to the Point of Beginning.

Tract 2
Part of the Northwest Quarter (NW1/4) of the Southwest Quarter (SW1/4) of Section 14,
Township 19 North, Range 13 West, Baxter County, Arkansas, more specifically
described as follows:  From the Southwest corner of the NE1/4 SE1/4 of Section 15,
Township 19 North, Range 13 West, as marked by a county survey monument, go North
00° 21' 19" West 556.78 feet to a 3/8 inch rebar at the Northwest corner of Lot 197 Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on Baxter County Survey Instrument RS-19-91; then
go North 88° 43' 37" East 487.23 feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth
Section to a 3/8 inch rebar on the East line of Partipilo Street; then go South 00 ° 30' 55"
East 97.63 feet along the East line of Partipilo Street, to a pipe at the Northwest corner of
Lot 201, Carlile Highlands Fourth Section, as shown on said Survey Instrument
RS-19-91; then go North 88° 31' 42" East 124.72 feet along the North line of Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section; then go South 17° 36' 37" East 135.31 feet along the North line
of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section; then go North 88° 53' 43" East 589.47 feet along the
North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar; then go North 89 ° 00'
21" East 259.41 feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch
rebar; then go South 00° 40' 30" East 108.92 feet; then go South 89° 17' 00" East 123.68
feet to a 3/8 inch rebar at the Northeast corner of Lot 211, Carlile Highlands Fourth
Section; then go South 00° 40' 30" East 103.67 feet; then go South 89° 13' 35" East 302.62
feet along the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a 3/8 inch rebar, Point of
Beginning for the tract being described; then continue South 89° 13' 35" East 683.63 feet
along the North line of Carlile Highlands Fourth Section to a one-half inch rebar at the
Northeast corner of Lot 219, Carlile Highlands Fourth Section, said point lying on the
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West right of way line of Arkansas State Highway 5; then leaving the North line of Carlile
Highlands Fourth Section, go North 26° 00' 09" West 320.80 feet along said West right of
way line to a 3/8 inch rebar; then leaving said West right of way line, go North 88 ° 59' 44"
West 541.87 feet to a 3/8 inch rebar on the East line of the tract of land shown on Baxter
County Survey Instrument RS-G-49; then go South 00° 13' 30" West 288.60 feet along
said East line to the Point of Beginning.

AND, Lot 219, Carlile Highlands, Section 4, Baxter County, Arkansas, as shown by the
recorded plat thereof.
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File No:  24-038973-750

COMMITMENT FOR TITLE INSURANCE

Issued by

Fidelity National Title Insurance Company

SCHEDULE B
Requirements

All of the following Requirements must be met:

1. The Proposed Insured must notify the Company in writing of the name of any party not
referred to in this Commitment who will obtain an interest in the Land or who will make a
loan on the Land. The Company may then make additional Requirements or Exceptions.

2. Pay all taxes, charges, and assessments affecting the Land that are due and payable.

3. Pay the agreed amount for the estate or interest to be insured.

4. Pay the premiums, fees, and charges for the Policy to the Company.

5. Documents satisfactory to the Company that convey the Title or create the Mortgage to
be insured,  or both, must  be properly authorized,  executed, delivered, and recorded in
the Public Records.

6. Notice:  Please be aware that due to the conflict between federal and state laws
concerning the cultivation, distribution, manufacture  or sale of marijuana,  the Company
is not able to close or insure any transaction involving Land that is associated with these
activities.

7. Prior to closing the transaction,  an updated search  of the Public Records  must be
performed. The Company reserves the right to raise such further exceptions and
requirements as an examination of the information revealed by such search requires.

Furnish executed Owner's Disclosure & Agreement.8.

Warranty Deed from the City of Mountain Home, Arkansas, Nursing and Retirement9.
Home Facilities Board (The Ev. Lutheran Good Samaritan Society Project), vesting fee
simple title in Mountain Home SNF Realty, LLC.

Warranty Deed from The Evangelical  Lutheran Good Samaritan  Society,  vesting fee10.
simple title in Mountain Home SNF Realty, LLC.
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File No:  24-038973-750

Duly authorized (mortgage) (deed of trust) from Mountain Home SNF Realty LLC to To11.
Be Determined Lender.

Furnish a copy of the Articles of Organization and Operating Agreement, including any12.
and all amendments thereto, of Mountain Home SNF Realty LLC.  All necessary
instruments must be executed in conformity with said Operating Agreement.  Unless the
necessary instruments are executed by all members, we must be furnished with
evidence satisfactory to American Abstract & Title Company that all necessary
consents, authorizations, resolutions, notices and actions relating to the subject
transaction have been provided and/or taken.

Furnish a current membership roster of Mountain Home SNF Realty LLC.13.

Furnish a Certificate of Good Standing for Mountain Home SNF Realty LLC from the14.
Arkansas Secretary of State.
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File No:  24-038973-750

SCHEDULE B, PART II
Exceptions

Some historical land records  contain Discriminatory  Covenants  that are illegal and
unenforceable by law. This Commitment and the Policy treat any Discriminatory
Covenant in a document referenced in Schedule B as if each Discriminatory Covenant is
redacted, repudiated,  removed, and not republished or recirculated.  Only the remaining
provisions of the document will be excepted from coverage.

The Policy will not insure against loss or damage resulting from the terms and provisions of any
lease or easement  identified in Schedule  A, and will include  the following  Exceptions  unless
cleared to the satisfaction of the Company:

1. Any defect,  lien, encumbrance,  adverse claim,  or other  matter  that appears  for the first
time in the Public Records or is created, attaches, or is disclosed between the
Commitment Date and the date on which all of the Schedule B, Part I-Requirements are
met.

2. Standard Exceptions:

(a) Rights or claims of parties in possession not shown by the public records.
(b) Easements or claims of easements, not shown by the public records.
(c) Any encroachments,  encumbrances,  overlaps, boundary line disputes, violations,
variations, or adverse  circumstances  and any matters  which  would  be disclosed  by an
accurate survey and inspection  of the premises.  The term “encroachment” includes
encroachments of existing  improvements  located  on the Land onto adjoining  land, and
encroachments onto the Land of existing improvements located on adjoining land.
(d) Any lien or right to a lien, for services,  labor, or material  heretofore or hereafter
furnished, imposed by law and not shown by the public records.

3. Taxes and special  assessments  for the current  and future years  which are not yet due
and payable or taxes not shown as existing liens in the public records and any
supplemental real estate taxes or special assessments  not previously assessed against
the land for any period before  the Date of Policy, plus any penalties and interest  which
may accrue.

4. Loss arising from any Oil, Gas or Mineral interests, conveyed, retained, assigned or any
activity on or damage to the insured land caused by the exercise of sub-surface rights or
ownership, including but not limited to the right of ingress and egress for said
sub-surface purposes.
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File No:  24-038973-750

5. Loss arising from any judgment liens or other liens of record in any United States District
Court or Bankruptcy Court  in the State of Arkansas as of the Effective Date hereof  that
are not reflected in the real property records  of the county in which the property is
located.

This property lies within the boundaries of the Baxter County Water Improvement District6.
as recorded at Circuit Court I, at page 221, and is subject to assessments, if any.

This property lies within the boundaries of the North Baxter County Water Distribution7.
District as recorded at Instrument No. ICR-2635-2009, and is subject to assessments, if
any.

This property lies within the jurisdiction of the City of Mountain Home Subdivision8.
Regulations and the City of Mountain Home Planning Commission.

This property lies within the boundaries of the City of Mountain Home Water & Sewer9.
Improvement District, and is subject to assessments for the same.

Building setback lines and easements as shown on plat of record in Slide No. 191 in the10.
real property records of Baxter County, Arkansas.

Right of Way Grant in favor of Arkansas Western Gas Company recorded in Instrument11.
No. 10025-2001, in Baxter County, Arkansas.

Easement in favor of James Brian Cox and Amy Cox, his wife, recorded in Instrument12.
No. L202107183, in Baxter County, Arkansas.

Easement in favor of Water and Sewer Improvement District No. 3 of Mountain Home13.
recorded in Misc Book R at page 161, in Baxter County, Arkansas.

Right of Way Easement in favor of Mountain Home Telephone Company recorded in14.
Instrument No. 184-94, in Baxter County, Arkansas.
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This Instrument Prepared By 

and after Recording Return to:1 

The Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Society 

4800 W. 57th Street 

Sioux Falls, SD 57108 

Attention:  Michael Rogers 

QUITCLAIM DEED2 

City of Mountain Home, Arkansas Nursing and Retirement Home Facilities Board  

("Grantor"), for and in consideration of the sum of One and No/100 United States Dollars ($1.00) 

and other good and valuable consideration in hand paid by The Evangelical Lutheran Good 

Samaritan Society f/k/a The Ev. Lutheran Good Samaritan Society ("Grantee"), the receipt 

and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby grant, convey and quitclaim unto 

Grantee, and unto his heirs, successors and assigns forever, all Grantor's right, title, interest and 

claim in and to the real property situated in Baxter County, Arkansas, described in Exhibit 1 

attached hereto and incorporated herein.  

 

 TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto Grantee, and unto its heirs, successors and 

assigns forever, with all appurtenances thereunto belonging. 

 

 EFFECTIVE this ____ day of _____________, 2024.  

     

City of Mountain Home, Arkansas Nursing and 

Retirement Home Facilities Board   

____________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title: _______________________________ 

 
Until amended, tax information should be sent to:  
The Evangelical Lutheran Good Samaritan Society, 4800 West 57th St, Internal Route 5787, Sioux Falls, SD  57108 

 

  

 

 

 



STATE OF ARKANSAS ) 

    ) ss.  ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

COUNTY OF BAXTER ) 

 

 On this day, before me, a Notary Public, duly commissioned, qualified and acting, with 

and for said County and State, appeared in person the within named ______________, to me well 

known, who stated and acknowledged that he/she was the _____________ of City of Mountain 

Home, Arkansas Nursing and Retirement Home Facilities Board, a/an________________, 

and had so signed, executed and delivered said foregoing instrument for the consideration, uses 

and purposes therein mentioned and set forth. 

 

 IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and official seal this _____ 

day of ____________, 20__. 

 

      __________________________________________ 

      Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

______________________ 

  ( S E A L ) 

 

 

 

   



EXHIBIT 1 

 

Legal Description 

 

Part of the NW¼ SW¼, Section 14, and part of the NE¼ SE¼,·Section 15, Twp. 19 N., Range 

13 West, Mountain Home, Baxter County, Arkansas described as follows: 

 

Starting at the SW corner of the said NE¼ SE¼, Section 15, thence N. 0 deg. 15’ W. 535.5 feet; 

thence N. 89 deg. 03' E. 485.6 feet; thence l deg. 42' 30" E. 94.6 feet; thence N. 88 deg. 30’ E. 

124.8 feet; thence S. 17 deg. 38' 30" E. 135.4 feet; thence N. 88 deg. 53’ 30" E. 589 .6 feet to the 

point of beginning; thence N. 88 deg. 53’ 30” E. 259.4 :feet; thence S. 0 deg. 40' 30” E. 108.9 

feet; thence S. 89 deg. 17' E’ 123.8 feet; thence S. 0 deg. 40’ 30” E. 104.2 feet, thence S. 89 deg. 

17' E. 302.5 feet; thence N. 0 deg. 13' 30’ E. 622.5 feet; thence N. 89 deg 17' 30" E. 50.0 feet; 

thence N. 1 deg. 10' W. 588.8 feet; thence S. 88 deg. 49’ 30" West 475.9 feet; thence S 1 deg. 01' 

30" E. 402.2 feet, thence. N. 89 deg. 48' W. 259.4 feet; thence S. 0 deg. 04’ W. 587.0 feet to the 

point of beginning; containing 15.70 acres more or less 
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